RECEIVED
Apr 12 2021
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Anderson County

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

TERRANCE J. GOSS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000127

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel provided effective representation where Petitioner asked counsel to investigate Sanchez Gilliard because he confessed, in writing, to robbing the store with two other men, not Petitioner, where counsel said she did not interview Gilliard or call him as a witness because he was a “multiple convicted felon,” since Gilliard’s prior convictions for armed robbery only lend credibility to the theory that Gilliard committed the armed robbery rather than Petitioner?

2.

Whether the PCR court erred in finding Petitioner failed to prove prejudice where Sanchez Gilliard’s written confession to police officers was properly introduced at the PCR hearing, since the proper introduction of such a writing is sufficient evidence to meet a PCR applicant’s burden of proof under *Pauling v. State*, 331 S.C. 606, 503 S.E.2d 468 (1998)?

STATEMENT

On January 20, 2009, Petitioner was indicted by an Anderson County Grand Jury for armed robbery, conspiracy to commit armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. App. 481 – 484. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury from May 17 – 19, 2010. App. 1. Mary Jane Goodwin was appointed to represent Petitioner and the State was represented by Rame Campbell. App. 1; App. 455, ll. 23-24. Petitioner was convicted as indicted and he was sentenced to concurrent terms of imprisonment of fifteen years, five years, and five years, respectively. App. 485 – 487.

On August 23, 2012, after exhausting his direct appeal remedies, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 401 – 413. On March 11, 2013, the State made its return. App. 414 – 420. A hearing was held on the matter before the Honorable Carmen Mullen on December 1, 2014. App. 421. Linda Whisenhunt represented Petitioner and John W. Whitmire represented the State. App. 421. On January 19, 2018, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 469 – 480. On March 15, 2021, this Court granted the petition for a writ of certiorari.

This brief of petitioner follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018) (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); *Jordan v. State*, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). “We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Id.* at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40 (citing *Sellner*, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527; *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 5, 2008, three masked men robbed the BP gas station on East Shockley Ferry Road in Anderson of nine hundred and twenty-seven dollars in just thirty-five seconds. App. 64, ll. 14-24; App. 77, ll. 13-15. While Stephen Lattimore, the cashier, was employed at the BP, the store was robbed three times in a five-month period. App. 79, ll. 17-22; App. 231, l. 22 – 232, l. 2. This was the third in the string of robberies. App. 79, ll. 17-18. According to Lattimore, the first robbery was committed by two people, the second was by three people, and this robbery—the third—was committed by three people. App. 79, l. 23 – 80, l. 2.

Video footage of the robbery was captured by a security camera and was used by law enforcement in their investigation. App. 230, ll. 3-18. It showed that two of the robbers had guns and one had a backpack. App. 233, ll. 21-23; App. 64, ll. 19-22. The cashier was told to give the men money and get on the floor, and he did. App. 76, l. 18 – 77, l. 1. The robbers fired three warning shots and left. App. 78, ll. 8-16. No one was injured. App. 79, ll. 8-9.

According to Detective Gebing, one of the robbers on the video footage had a gun that looked like a “Kel-Tec.” App. 235, ll. 2-4. Gebing thought the gun was a Kel-Tec because it looked like a rifle but shot .9 mm (pistol caliber) rounds. App. 235, l. 2 – 236, l. 10. Detective Gebing issued a “be on the lookout” flyer to other police officers for this type of gun. App. 235, ll. 4-13.

As seen, the robbery occurred in Anderson on February 5, 2008. On February 8, 2008, police were called to a dormitory at Greenville Technical College because Chris Ronoke, a student there, accidentally shot himself in the knee while trying to hide a gun from campus security officers. App. 104, ll. 4-8; App. 112, l. 8 – 113, l. 16. “I tried to pick it up with the bottom of my shirt so I wouldn’t get my fingerprints on it or nothing and get rid of it, basically,

and then it went off into my knee,” Ronoke said. App. 113, ll. 13-16. Police officers found the gun Ronoke shot himself with, a Hi-Point pistol, in a closet along with a Kel-Tec .9 mm. App. 184, ll. 9-13; App. 186, ll. 13-20.

James Armstrong, a forensic technician with Greenville County Public Safety, testified that he compared the two guns found in the Greenville Tech dorm with fired cartridge casings that were collected from the BP robbery. App. 191, l. 25 – 192, l. 6; App. 194, ll. 4-8; App. 195, ll. 10-13; App. 197, ll. 13-19. Armstrong determined that one of the casings from the scene of the robbery was fired from the Hi-Point and two others were fired from the Kel-Tec. App. 199, ll. 8-13. Armstrong was qualified as an expert in firearm identification and testified that the Kel-Tec gun was “fairly unique.” App. 193, ll. 9-14; App. 195, ll. 5-7. Armstrong said the gun was unusual, but would not agree that it was highly unusual, just “not one you commonly see on a day to day use.” App. 200, ll. 4-7.

Petitioner and Travis Patterson were charged with the February 5th robbery. App. 243, ll. 19-24. According to Chris Ronoke, he saw Petitioner and Travis Patterson with these types of guns on the night of the robbery. App. 106, l. 14 – 107, l. 1; App. 116, l. 24 – 117, l. 15. Another witness claimed he dropped Petitioner off at the Greenville Tech dorm with a Kel-Tec before Ronoke shot himself. App. 152, ll. 6-7; App. 156, ll. 18-19; App. 158, ll. 16-20. However, Petitioner told police that the gun belonged to one Jared Stevenson. App. 129, ll. 9-12; App. 130, ll. 3-7.

Rob Gebing, a detective at the Anderson County Sheriff’s Office with fourteen years’ experience in law enforcement, said he decided to charge Petitioner and his codefendant Travis Patterson with the February 5th robbery based on their connection to the guns, since the guns were matched to shell casings found at the BP. App. 244, ll. 2-15; App. 228, ll.1-7. The solicitor

told the jury that the case against Petitioner was “circumstantial.” App. 299, ll. 7-16. The State also introduced a jail telephone call recording¹ and a letter² that it argued were incriminating.

The jury deliberated for over four hours and asked a number of questions—it asked to be re-charged on conspiracy, it asked to replay and repeatedly asked to watch again and pause the video footage of the robbery, it asked to see Petitioner stand up,³ and it asked to re-hear testimony. App. 352, l. 20; App. 372, l. 11; App. 352, l. 22 – 359, l. 18. App. 362, l. 6 – 365, l. 11; App. 369, l. 11 – 371, l. 13; App. 368, ll. 12-20. Ultimately, Petitioner was found guilty of armed robbery, conspiracy to commit armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. Petitioner was sentenced to concurrent terms of imprisonment of fifteen years, five years, and five years, respectively. App. 485 – 487.

¹ The State introduced a recorded telephone call made by Petitioner from the detention center. App. 259, ll. 9-11; App. 261, ll. 17-23. The solicitor claimed Petitioner was recorded saying, “We done did this robbery. Don’t own up to them guns in Greenville.” App. 309, ll. 1-2. However, the defense explained that Petitioner was expressing his frustration that his codefendant called him a snitch, and that Petitioner was recorded saying his codefendant was “talking about *I’m the one told* that me and him done an armed robbery.” App. 326, ll. 13-18 (emphasis added). Trial counsel said Petitioner had reason to be afraid of being labeled a snitch, as illustrated by the fact that one of the witnesses in this case “was beaten almost to death at the jail the night after he . . .” testified. App. 452, ll. 15-21.

² The State also introduced a letter written by Petitioner that it claimed was evidence of guilt, but the defense argued the letter did not contain a confession. App. 201, ll. 1-15; App. 248, l. 21 – 251, l. 5; App. 307, l. 6 – 308, l. 23; App. 324, ll. 16-18. The State argued the letter was incriminating because “not once is there a denial of being involved in this robbery,” and because Petitioner told his codefendant they “need to be on the same page.” App. 307, ll. 12-25. In the letter, Petitioner tried to reassure his codefendant that he would not snitch on his codefendant and two named others. App. 249, ll. 1-8. The defense argued the letter merely showed that Petitioner did not want his codefendant to think he had snitched on anyone. App. 324, l. 20 – 325, l. 20.

³ There was discussion about the height of the robbers. Compared to the marks on the gas station door, Detective Gebing said the man with the long gun is “above the six foot mark by a couple of inches. The other guy is just below it by a couple of inches. And then the third guy, the shortest one with the backpack, he is a good bit below the six foot mark.” App. 234, ll. 9-22. According to Detective Gebing, Petitioner is about 6’4”, Sanchez Gilliard is 5’11”, Derrick Jones and Travis Patterson are both 6’. App. 275, ll. 12-15; App. 279, l. 24 – 280, l. 4.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) and a hearing was held before the Honorable Carmen Mullen on December 1, 2014. App. 401 – 413; App. 421. It was undisputed at trial and at the PCR hearing that Petitioner obtained a confession given to police and written by one Sanchez Gilliard, which Petitioner received from another inmate and gave to trial counsel prior to trial. App. 466; App. 38, ll. 20-23. In the written confession, Gilliard admitted to robbing the BP and he named his cohorts, who did not include Petitioner. App. 466.

Gilliard's statement was mentioned during pretrial motions. Trial counsel said a "statement of Sanchez G[i]lliard was given March 17, 2009, in which he claims that he, Derek J[ones] and Travis Patterson did the robbery that my client is on trial up here for today . . ." App. 38, l. 20 – 39, l. 2. However, the confession did not indicate which day the robbery occurred, and the solicitor argued Gilliard was talking about one of the other BP robberies. App. 39, ll. 7-14. In the confession, Gilliard says he, Travis Patterson, and Derrick Jones robbed the BP on East Shockley Ferry Road, and that he had a bag and got the money while the other two men had guns. App. 466. Gilliard did not provide a date for the robbery. App. 466. In Gilliard's statement, he says, "I heard [the BP] was hit a couple more times and I know Coot [Derrick Jones] talked about being in on it." App. 466. However, Gilliard could not have been confessing to the first robbery, since only two perpetrators were involved there. Gilliard did not testify, and his confession was not introduced to the jury.

Petitioner testified that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate and subpoena Sanchez Gilliard. App. 431, l. 24 – 432, l. 9. Petitioner explained that he got Gilliard's statement from an inmate who said Gilliard was bragging about committing the armed robbery with which Petitioner was charged, and that he gave the statement to trial counsel. App. 432, ll. 12-18. Trial counsel agreed she received the confession prior to trial. App. 457, ll. 14-17. Petitioner said that

he asked trial counsel “to talk to [Gilliard] and investigate,” but he did not know whether counsel had done so. App. 435, ll. 3-12. Counsel said, “I can’t remember if I talked to [Gilliard] or not.” App. 450, l. 25 – 451, l. 1.

Sanchez Gilliard’s written confession to police was offered as an exhibit at the PCR hearing. App. 466 – 468; App. 438, l. 25 – 439, l. 1; App. 278, ll. 3-4. The PCR court admitted the confession into evidence and the State did not object to its admission. App. 438, l. 10 – 439, l. 1. The State agreed that Gilliard’s confession had been authenticated: the Assistant Attorney General said, “Authenticity was laid last week.”⁴ App. 439, ll. 2-4.

Trial counsel said she did not attempt to call Sanchez Gilliard as a witness because he was a felon, and because having the last closing argument “was much more valuable than Sanchez Gilliard.” App. 451, l. 25 – 452, l. 5. Trial counsel also stated that Gilliard was a “multiple convicted felon. He’s not somebody you want to put up in a case.” App. 451, ll. 2-4. At trial, Detective Gebing said Gilliard was serving two hundred and seventy years in prison and had pleaded guilty to so many armed robberies that Detective Gebing “lost count.” App. 278, ll. 5-25. The solicitor thought Gilliard had committed nine to eleven armed robberies in Anderson County. App. 278, ll. 8-13.

PCR counsel asked trial counsel if she made any effort *at all* to contact or investigate Gilliard, and trial counsel said she had not.

Q. Did you make any other efforts to kind of look into Mr. Gilliard to see if he would match the culprit on the video?

A. He is a known convicted felon, so I did not. As I said, I don’t remember interviewing him.

⁴ It is unclear to what the Assistant Attorney General was referring. Undersigned counsel spoke with PCR counsel Whisenhunt, who confirmed there was only one hearing held in this case—the December 1, 2014 PCR hearing.

App. 458, ll. 11-15. Counsel never attempted to speak with Gilliard to find out what he would say, but claimed she decided not to call him as a witness because, “I don’t know that we needed to take the risk of calling people that you don’t know what they’re going to say.” App. 459, ll. 8-10.

At trial, counsel questioned Detective Gebing briefly about Sanchez Gilliard’s confession. App. 276, l. 24 – 277, l. 13; App. 281, ll. 5-6. However, trial counsel elicited only that Gilliard had confessed to robbing the BP with Derrick Jones and Travis Patterson. App. 276, l. 24 – 277, l. 13. Detective Gebing said he “believed” Gilliard was talking about the second time the BP was robbed, not the third, but said that Gilliard did not provide the date. App. 277, ll. 3-8; App. 281, ll. 5-7.

Trial counsel did not confront Detective Gebing with the fact that the details of the robbery in this case matched Sanchez Gilliard’s description of the robbery that he said he and two other men committed. Critically, counsel did not elicit Gilliard’s statement that in the robbery Gilliard committed, three men—two with guns and one with a bag—were involved, the same scenario as this case.

On January 19, 2018, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 469 – 480. In its order, the PCR court found that trial counsel was not deficient because she conducted a “reasonable and proper investigation.” The order stated: “Counsel tried and investigated the case to the best of her ability by pursuing the most advantageous trial strategy, which involved deciding not to call Sanchez Gilliard as a witness at trial due to credibility concerns.” App. 476.

The order of dismissal also stated that Petitioner did not show that he was prejudiced by counsel’s failure to interview Gilliard or call him as a witness. Petitioner “failed to present any other witnesses, including Gilliard, at the evidentiary hearing and produced no evidence of what

Counsel might have uncovered had she conducted any additional investigation, although [Petitioner] admitted a copy of the Gilliard statement into evidence.” App. 476. The order stated that Sanchez Gilliard’s “statement was not corroborated by other testimony and came from an unreliable convicted felon,” and it cited *Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 499, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995), for the proposition that Petitioner failed to show prejudice because Gilliard was not called as a witness. App. 476.

According to Detective Gebing, Sanchez Gilliard was never charged with robbing the BP station on East Shockley Ferry Road. App. 278, ll. 3-25.

ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel provided effective representation where Petitioner asked counsel to investigate Sanchez Gilliard because he confessed, in writing, to robbing the store with two other men, not Petitioner, where counsel said she did not interview Sanchez Gilliard or call him as a witness because he was a “multiple convicted felon,” since Gilliard’s prior convictions for armed robbery only lend credibility to the theory that Gilliard committed the armed robbery rather than Petitioner.

While detained pretrial, Petitioner discovered the existence of the exculpatory statement given by Sanchez Gilliard. Petitioner provided it to trial counsel, and requested that she investigate the matter, but trial counsel did not attempt to investigate Gilliard or to call him as a witness. “[C]ounsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 691 (1984); *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007). The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to present a defense. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967).

The jury did not have the opportunity to hear Sanchez Gilliard’s testimony or his written statement. Rather than interviewing and calling Gilliard as a witness, counsel briefly cross-examined Detective Gebing about Gilliard’s confession. App. 276, l. 24 – 277, l. 13; App. 281, ll. 5-6. However, her questioning only made the experienced police officer double down and continue to defend his position. Detective Gebing, who had fourteen years’ experience in law enforcement, told the jury that he did not believe Gilliard committed the robbery in this case. App. 277, ll. 3-8. Gilliard’s confession stated he robbed the BP with Derrick Jones and Travis

Patterson, but Detective Gebing said he had interviewed Derrick Jones and indicated that he did not believe Jones committed any of the BP robberies. App. 279, ll. 9-23. This manner of eliciting information about Gilliard's confession effectively substituted Detective Gebing's evaluation of Sanchez Gilliard's credibility for the jury's. However, the assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury. *State v. Wright*, 269 S.C. 414, 417, 237 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1977).

Trial counsel's questioning of Detective Gebing regarding Gilliard's statement did not rectify her deficiency in failing to call Gilliard as a witness. Petitioner would have been better off with Sanchez Gilliard, a convicted criminal, saying that he robbed the BP station and that Petitioner was not with him. "This Court has stated previously that criminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case." *Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (citing *Ard v. Catoe*, *supra*).

In *Edwards*, 392 S.C. at 453, 710 S.E.2d at 62, this Court found "trial counsel's decision to not interview and call as a witness [the accused's] co-defendant was not deficient performance or prejudicial." There, Edwards' codefendant, Marshall, pleaded guilty to a murder with which the pair were jointly charged prior to Edwards' trial. *Id.* Marshall testified at Edwards' PCR hearing that he alone was the shooter, that Edwards was not involved, and that the shooting was an accident. *Id.* at 453-54, 710 S.E.2d at 62-63. Edwards' trial counsel testified that he had observed Marshall's guilty plea, had gotten a copy of the transcript, and had decided not to call him because, "It wasn't an accident if he's pleading guilty to murder." *Id.* at 454-55, 710 S.E.2d at 63. Edwards' counsel also said he had serious doubts about Marshall's ability to withstand

cross-examination and observed that at his plea colloquy, Marshall “was unable to give a consistent recitation of the facts.” *Id.*

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