**RECEIVED**

**Apr 23 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO ANDERSON COUNTY  
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Trial Judge  
The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, PCR Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000127

---

TERRENCE J. GOSS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
S.C. Bar No. 100231  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0368

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- I. The post-conviction relief judge properly found trial counsel was not deficient for further investigating Sanchez Gilliard or calling him as a witness at trial because his statement, if true, described a separate robbery than the one for which Petitioner was convicted, the substance of the statement was presented to the jury, trial counsel decided Gilliard was not credible, and trial counsel determined Petitioner's defense was better served with having the final closing argument.
  
- II. The post-conviction relief judge properly found Petitioner failed to prove prejudice through Gilliard's written confession because the statement was inadmissible hearsay which did not exclude Petitioner's involvement in the charged crime. Without Gilliard's testimony, Petitioner could not prove he was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency of trial counsel.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined by the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment by the Anderson County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was indicted at the January 2009 term of the Horry County Grand Jury for armed robbery, conspiracy to commit armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime (2009-GS-04-0070; 2009-GS-04-0072). Mary Jane Goodwin, Esquire, was appointed to represent Petitioner at trial. Assistant Solicitor Rame Campbell, Esquire, represented the State. On May 17–19, 2010, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh.

Prior to trial, trial counsel noted that while preparing for trial, another defendant gave Petitioner a copy of a statement written by Gilliard that appeared exculpatory in nature. In the statement, Gilliard claims he, Derek James, and Travis Patterson (Petitioner's codefendant), robbed the BP in question. Trial counsel sought a stipulation from the State that no other exculpatory evidence was in its possession. The State noted Gilliard was convicted of several armed robberies before trial and that the statement applied to a prior armed robbery of the BP; the BP in question was robbed several times over the course of several months. The State informed the trial court it was not in possession of any exculpatory evidence for Petitioner. (App.pp.38–40).

Stephen Lattimore, an employee of the Anderson BP gas station robbed by Petitioner, testified that he was working as a clerk on the night of February 5, 2008, when three men of varying heights entered the store, demanding money. Two of the men were carrying weapons. During the course of the robbery, the two armed men fired a combined three shots into the store; two into the ceiling and one to the right of Lattimore's shoulder. Lattimore noted this was the first time any shots were fired during a robbery at the store; this was the third robbery he

experienced at the BP location and the fourth total in recent history. The first robbery was completed by two people, but the second and third robberies were performed by groups of three men. Finally, Lattimore recalled observing a unique weapon during the robbery, a Kel Tec: a type of rifle which fires handgun ammunition. Lattimore identified the State's Exhibit 18 as the "tec" he saw during the robbery. (App.pp.71-83).

Chris Ronoke testified he knew Petitioner and Patterson and hung out with them around the time of the robbery. He grew up in Anderson and visited frequently although he was a student at Greenville Tech. On the day of the robbery, Ronoke was in Anderson and saw Petitioner and Patterson with the guns used in the robbery, which included the distinctive "tec." Two days after the crime, he met up with the two men and several other friends at a club called "Rolex." Afterwards, Ronoke stayed at a girlfriend's house while Petitioner and Patterson stayed at his campus apartment. When Ronoke returned the following morning, the two men were gone. A member of the campus cleaning staff informed him that she found a handgun under his bed, so he went to his room and found a pistol. He tried to pick it up with the bottom of his shirt, so as to avoid leaving fingerprints on the weapon, when the gun discharged a bullet into his knee. Later, Ronoke told investigating officers that the weapons found in his apartment, which included the Kel Tec, belonged to Petitioner and Patterson. (App.pp.103-19).

Trent Stevenson, one of Ronoke's roommates, was a part of the group that went to Rolex on the night of February 7, 2008. Afterwards, Petitioner rode back with him to the apartment. In the car, Stevenson saw the "tec." Petitioner admitted ownership of the gun and told Stenson it was a Kel Tec and could hold 32 bullets in the clip. When Stevenson dropped Petitioner off at the apartment, Petitioner took the gun with him. (App.pp.151-65).

Officer Kelly Warren Riggs of the Greenville City Police Department responded to the scene after Ronoke shot himself and found the handgun as well as the Kel Tec in the apartment. Officer James Armstrong, a forensic technician and expert in firearm identification, tested the Kel Tec and handgun recovered from the apartment and confirmed the two weapons were used to fire the bullets recovered from the BP robbery in dispute. (App.pp.181–90; 192–200).

Jocastavious Timpson, an inmate in the Department of Corrections who shared a cell with Petitioner, admitted he contacted police and informed them that Petitioner confessed involvement in the BP robbery and that he saw Petitioner with a Kel Tec prior to his incarceration. Javaris Hill, a friend of Petitioner’s, testified he saw him with the weapon prior to the robbery and knew the guns belonged to Petitioner and Patterson and that they were purposely “stashed” in Ronoke’s apartment. Derrick Jones, another friend of Petitioner’s, gave a statement to police identifying the gun as Petitioner’s and noting Petitioner told him it was confiscated when Ronoke shot himself in the leg. (App.pp.201–18; 220–25).

Detective Rob Gebing of the Anderson County Sheriff’s Office was the primary investigator of the robbery. He confirmed the store had been robbed three times while Lattimore was present, all of which occurred over a ten-month period. He also reviewed the video recording of the robbery and noted that two of the men appeared to be six feet tall, while the third man, holding the Kel Tec, appeared to be several inches taller than the other two.<sup>1</sup> Detective Gebing noted Kel Tec’s are “unique” guns and it was the only one he had encountered in his time with the Anderson County Sheriff’s Office. Further, when Petitioner and Patterson were arrested, Petitioner was found to be 6’3 and Patterson was 6’0. (App.pp.227–73).

---

<sup>1</sup> As noted by Detective Gebing, the store had height tape on the doors which allowed for him to determine the general heights of the men. (App.p.234).

On cross-examination, trial counsel questioned Detective Gebing about Gilliard's statement and claimed it "seemed to exonerate" Petitioner; a statement in which Gilliard stated he and two other men, Jones and Patterson, robbed the BP. However, Detective Gebing pointed out that the statement did not exclude the possibility Petitioner performed the robbery; the statement mentions that one of the persons who robbed the store with Gilliard did so again later, and the BP robbery for which Petitioner was charged, was the last of three such crimes and involved Patterson. On re-direct examination, Detective Gebing explained Gilliard never admitted involvement in the instant BP robbery and that Gilliard, Jones, and Patterson, who are all 6'0 or shorter, did not match the combination of heights seen in the recorded video of the robbery. (App.pp.276–81).

The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. The trial judge sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years' incarceration for armed robbery, five years' incarceration for conspiracy to commit armed robbery, and five years' for possession of a weapon during a violent crime. (App.pp.372–84).

On August 23, 2012, after exhausting his direct appeal remedies, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) alleging he was being held unlawfully for the following reasons:

**Ineffective Assistance of Trial Counsel**

- a. Failure to object to testimony regarding prior bad acts and to introduction of evidence not provided in discovery
- b. Failure to investigate
- c. Failure to present adequate defense, including failing to subpoena defense witnesses or call Petitioner to testify

**Prosecutorial Misconduct**

- a. Knowingly eliciting false testimony
- b. Using statements regarding other crimes to confuse the jury

**Violation of Due Process pursuant to Brady**

- a. Failing to turn over witness statement in discovery

## Abuse of Discretion of the Trial Court

### a. Error in allowing testimony regarding prior/unrelated crimes

(App.pp.401–13). The State filed its Return on March 11, 2013. (App.pp.414–20).

An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on December 1, 2014, before the Honorable Carmen Mullen. Linda Whisenhunt, Esquire, represented Petitioner and John W. Whitmire, Esquire, represented the State. Petitioner testified he first heard about Sanchez Gilliard’s confession to a BP gas station robbery through a codefendant of Gilliard’s. Petitioner heard Gilliard had bragged about the armed robbery. After making a copy of the statement, he sent it to trial counsel. He claimed the State never provided a copy of the statement in its discovery. (App.pp.421–33).

Petitioner alleged the statement was important to his defense because within it, Gilliard discusses an armed robbery at the same BP which his crime occurred. Gilliard claims he, Edward Jones, and Travis Patterson committed the robbery and never implicates Petitioner was involved. However, trial counsel never called Gilliard as a witness and Petitioner was unsure of whether she even spoke with him. Following Petitioner’s testimony, PCR counsel introduced Gilliard’s statement into evidence. (App.pp.433–39)

During cross-examination, Petitioner admitted that although he knew who really committed the crime, he did not reveal the identities to trial counsel or the trial court for fear of being labeled a snitch. (App.pp.439 –48).

Trial counsel recalled the events surrounding her representation of Petitioner much differently. She noted that several items, including Gilliard’s statement was eventually provided in discovery, but was not initially given to her because there was not a “logical connect[ion]” between Gilliard’s robbery and Petitioner’s. Trial counsel did not recall whether she ever spoke directly with Gilliard, but did remember having several conversations with Petitioner about the

potential of using him as a witness. Trial counsel believed that Gilliard, who had numerous criminal convictions including several for armed robbery, would not have been a great witness. She explained that Gilliard's statement was not particularly helpful to Petitioner's case. The BP in question was robbed on several occasions and Gilliard's statement appeared to describe another robbery. Further, Gilliard, who is approximately 6'0, was several inches shorter than Petitioner, and everyone in Gilliard's description of the robbery were much shorter than tallest person in the video of the robbery in dispute. Accordingly, she believed it would be more beneficial to Petitioner's defense to not put up any witnesses and have the last closing argument. (App.pp.449-55; App.pp.462-63).

On cross-examination, trial counsel noted Petitioner never informed her that he knew who committed the crime. She also noted other issues with Gilliard's statement, notably that it was not dated and did not describe when the armed robbery occurred. Notably, she also spoke to other individuals implicated in the statement, Derek Jones and Travis Patterson, the week before trial and they did not corroborate any of the information contained in Gilliard's statement. (App.pp.455-62).

On January 19, 2018, the PCR judge issued an order denying relief. In the order, the PCR judge found trial counsel was not deficient, but "adequately prepared for [Petitioner]'s trial and did not fall below the standards of professional norms in any manner." As to Petitioner's claims regarding trial counsel's failure to investigate and subpoena Gilliard, the PCR judge found trial counsel's investigation and decision to not call Gillard as a witness were reasonable trial strategy. Further, the PCR judge found Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsel's actions, noting it "[could] only speculate as to what additional investigation [trial counsel] could have done and what evidence that investigation would have uncovered," and trial counsel had

“sound justification” for not calling Gillard due his credibility concerns and the fact that the statement was not corroborated by any other evidence. Further, the PCR judge found “[Petitioner] failed to present any other witnesses, including Gilliard, at the evidentiary hearing” or other evidence which demonstrated what trial counsel could have uncovered with further investigation. (App.pp.469–80).

On January 25, 2018, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal, appealing the PCR court’s denial of his application for PCR. Petitioner filed his Petition for Writ of Certiorari and Appendix on October 3, 2018. The State filed its Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari on February 19, 2019. On March 5, 2019, the case was transferred to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 243(l), SCACR. On March 15, 2021, this Court granted the petition. Petitioner submitted his Brief of Petitioner on April 12, 2021. This Brief of Respondent follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for PCR matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). Overall, reviewing courts “give[] great deference to the PCR court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law”, Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005), with the applicant shouldering the burden of proof. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Further, a PCR court’s findings will be upheld if there is “any evidence of probative value sufficient to support them.” Id. Reversal of the lower court’s findings occurs when there is no probative evidence to support the initial finding. Pierce v. State, 338 S.C. 139, 526 S.E.2d 222 (2000). Courts must conduct a *de novo* review when evaluating questions of law and are required to reverse the initial holding when the decision is controlled by an error of law. Smalls, 422 S.C. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40; Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 669 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442. In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. at 669; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms. “Id. (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the

range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). An applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. at 117–18 (emphasis added). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Patrick v. State, 349 S.C. 203, 207, 562 S.E.2d 609, 611 (2002). “It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693.

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